No. 72335-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN R. GIBBONS, DEC'D,

Appellant,

v.

THE BOEING COMPANY, AND DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dorian D.N. Whitford, WSBA# 43351 Vail, Cross-Euteneier & Associates 819 Martin Luther King Jr. Way P.O. Box 5707 Tacoma, WA 98415-0707 (253) 383-8770 Attorneys for Vivian Gibbons

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER					
II.	DECISION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1					
III.	ISSUE1					
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE1					
V.	ARGUMENT					
	A.	INTRODUCTION: THE POLICY OF THE INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE ACT				
	В.	DEATH BENEFITS UNDER THE INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE ACT				
	C.	SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD10				
	D.	THE COURT OF APPEALS INCORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT MRS. GIBBONS' INDEPENDENT CLAIM FOR DEATH BENEFITS WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT CONCERNING RCW 51.32.067				
	E.	THE COURT OF APPEALS INCORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT MRS. GIBBONS' INDEPENDENT CLAIM FOR DEATH BENEFITS WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT CONCERNING RCW 51.32.050				
	F.	THIS CASE INVOLVES A SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST IN PROTECTING ALL SURVIVORS OF DECEASED INJURED				

Pages						
WORKERS FROM SUFFERING UNNECESSARY AND UNJUST ECONOMIC HARM						
VI. CONCLUSION16						
APPENDIX						
Court of Appeals Opinion No: 72335-9-I						
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES						
A. Table of Cases						
Washington Cases						
Clauson v. Department of Labor and Industries, 130 Wn.2d 580, 925 P.2d 624 (1996)9						
Cockle v. Department of Labor and Industries, 142 Wn.2d 801, 822, 16 P.3d 583 (2001)15						
Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp., 110 Wn.2d 912, 757 P.2d 507 (1988)10						
Mason v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 166 Wn. App. 859, 271 P.3d 381 (2012)10, 16						
McFarland v. Department of Labor and Industries, 188 Wash. 357, 62 P.2d 714 (1936)						
Porter v. Department of Labor and Industries, 51 Wn.2d 634, 320 P.2d 1099 (1958)						

Pages
White v. Kent Medical Center, Inc., P.S., 61 Wn. App. 163, 810 P.2d 4 (1991)
Wilber v. Department of Labor and Industries, 61 Wn.2d 439, 378 P.2d 684 (1963)
Wintermute v. Department of Labor and Industries, 183 Wash. 169, 48 P.2d 627 (1935)
B. Statutes, Regulations, and Court Rules
Wash. Rev. Code 51.04.0108
Wash. Rev. Code 51.12.0109
Wash. Rev. Code 51.32.050
Wash. Rev. Code 51.32.067
Wash. Rev. Code 51.52.13017
Wash. Admin. Code 296-20-280
Civil Rule 56
Rules on Appeal 13.48

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Comes now the petitioner, Vivian Gibbons, the surviving spouse of John R. Gibbons (deceased), Appellant and Plaintiff below, by and through her attorneys of record, The Law Offices of David B. Vail, Jennifer Cross-Euteneier and Associates per Dorian D.N. Whitford, and hereby asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review.

II. DECISION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Mrs. Gibbons seeks review of Opinion No: 72335-9-I. The Court of Appeals, Division I, filed its opinion on August 17, 2015.

III. ISSUE

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the Superior Court's decision which affirmed the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals' granting of The Boeing Company's motion for summary judgment finding that Mrs. Gibbons is not entitled to death benefits under RCW 51.32.067 and RCW 51.32.050 when genuine issues of material fact remain concerning Mr. Gibbons' permanent disability as it relates to Mrs. Gibbons' independent claim for death benefits and the cause of his death?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case originates under RCW Title 51, the Industrial Insurance Act ("the Act") from an administrative law review appeal from a April 1, 2013 Decision and Order of the Board of Industrial

Insurance Appeals ("the Board") which granted summary judgment for the employer, The Boeing Company ("Boeing"). The Board found that there were no genuine issues of material fact that would prevent the granting of Boeing's motion as Mr. Gibbons died from a condition unrelated to his September 24, 1998 industrial injury and he died during a period when he was not permanently and totally disabled as a result of such industrial injury.

In late September of 1988, Mr. Gibbons suffered an industrial injury when he twisted his back getting out of a pickup truck while working as a carpenter for Boeing, a self-insured employer. CABR¹ at 117. Mr. Gibbons filed an industrial injury claim which was allowed on January 9, 1989 under claim number T-321420 by the Department of Labor and Industries ("Department"). CARB at 118. Benefits were provided and on October 12, 1993, Mr. Gibbons' claim was closed with a permanent partial disability award for low back impairment of category 3 under WAC 296-20-280, which amounted to \$9,000. CABR at 119.

Mr. Gibbons' condition resulting from his industrial injury became aggravated and his claim was reopened for further treatment effective April 6, 1995. CABR at 121. Mr. Gibbons died on August 1, 2005. CABR at

¹ The record created at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals is the certified appeal board record and will be cited to as CABR followed by the page number.

122. On June 2, 2006, the Department again closed Mr. Gibbons' claim with no additional permanent partial impairments. CABR 125-26. Prior to this claim closure, there had been a determination that Mr. Gibbons had voluntarily retired, and was thus not entitled to wage replacement benefits, such as permanent total disability benefits. CABR 106-110; 184.

On July 26, 2006, Mrs. Gibbons, through counsel, appealed the June 2, 2006 closing order alleging that Mr. Gibbons was entitled to an increased permanent partial disability award. At that time, the parties agreed that the issues on appeal were limited to increased permanent partial impairment and allowance of certain conditions. CABR 187.

On May 16, 2008, the Board issued a Decision and Order which reversed the June 2, 2006 Department order, and directed Boeing to pay Mr. Gibbons a permanent partial disability award for Category 6 permanent lumbosacral impairment. CABR 127-137. The Board did not make any findings or conclusions regarding any entitlement to widow's benefits. *Id.* Ultimately, after cross-appeals to Superior Court, the Department issued a January 18, 2012 order awarding Mr. Gibbons multiple permanent partial disability awards, as described below. CABR 148-49. Mr. Gibbons was never placed on a pension for permanent total disability.

Vivian Gibbons is the widow and beneficiary of Mr. Gibbons. CABR 190, 192. Mrs. Gibbons applied for widow's benefits under Mr.

Gibbons' claim with the Department on July 21, 2006. CABR 194. This was after the Department issued its closing order dated June 2, 2006. During the litigation concerning the closing order of Mr. Gibbons' claim, no determination had been made by the Department on Mrs. Gibbons' independent claim for widow's benefits.

On June 26, 2008, the Department issued a ministerial order that carried out the instructions of the Board contained in the Board's May 16, 2008 Decision and Order; the Department's June 26, 2008 order also denied Mrs. Gibbons' application for widow's benefits. CABR 140-41. As of the Department's June 26, 2008 order, the Board's May 16, 2008 Decision and Order was still on appeal in King County Superior Court.

On October 13, 2011, the Department issued an order that carried out the instructions of the Superior Court, reversing the June 26, 2008 Department order, closing the claim, and ordering the payment of permanent partial disability awards of category 3 for low back impairment and category 2 for lower digestive tract impairment; the October 13, 2011 Department order also denied Mrs. Gibbons' application for widow's benefits. CABR 196-97. That order was protested by Mrs. Gibbons. CABR 200.

Following Mrs. Gibbons' protest of the Department's October 13, 2011 order, the Department issued two orders: on January 13, 2012, the

Department issued an order denying widow's benefits, CABR 146, and on January 18, 2012, the Department issued an order reversing the October 13, 2011 order and again carrying out the instructions of the Superior Court (i.e. reversing the June 26, 2008 Department order, closing the claim, and ordering payment of permanent partial disability awards of category 3 for the low back and category 2 for the lower digestive tract). CABR 148-49.

Mrs. Gibbons protested the Department's January 13, 2012 order, and on May 22, 2012, the Department issued an order affirming its January 13, 2012 order. CABR 150. Mrs. Gibbons appealed the Department's May 22, 2012 order, which affirmed the Department's denial of widow's benefits, to the Board. CABR 53. This appeal was granted. CABR at 298.

After the scheduling of the case, Boeing moved for summary judgment claiming that Mrs. Gibbons is precluded from obtaining a widow's pension because Mr. Gibbons had voluntarily retired, the Department denied her claim for widow's pension on June 26, 2008, and post-mortem litigation resulted in a judgment finding Mr. Gibbons permanently partially disabled as of his death and all of these determinations were res judicata. CABR at 96-104.

Following briefing and argument, an Industrial Appeals Judge issued a proposed decision and order granting Boeing's motion for summary judgment holding that Mrs. Gibbons was not entitled to widow's

benefits because Mr. Gibbons did not die during a period of permanent total disability and Mr. Gibbons died from a condition unrelated to his September 24, 1988 industrial injury. CABR at 40-9.

Mrs. Gibbons petitioned the Board to review the proposed decision and order and the Board ultimately upheld the summary judgment ruling in favor of Boeing, thereby affirming the Department's May 22, 2012 order that affirmed the Department's January 13, 2012 order that denied Mrs. Gibbon's application for widow's benefits. CABR 2-4. The Board's decision was appealed to the King County Superior Court.

Following briefing and argument, the Honorable Julia L. Garratt found that the Board's granting of Boeing's motion for summary judgment was proper and affirmed the Board's decision. Mrs. Gibbons appealed this decision to the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division one. The Superior Court's decision was affirmed. Appendix A1.

Mrs. Gibbons' now petitions the Supreme Court for review and requests, that the Court of Appeals' opinion be reversed, and this matter be remanded to the Board for her case regarding widow's benefits to be heard in order to adhere to the underlying purpose and policy of the Act of reducing the economic harm to injured workers and their families arising

from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment in the State of Washington.

The Court of Appeals' opinion, which affirmed the Superior Court's decision, undercuts the purpose and policy of the Act by holding that Mrs. Gibbons is not entitled to death benefits, or widow's benefits, her independent right, because there was a final determination concerning Mr. Gibbons' claim which found him only permanently partially disabled. This is also inconsistent with prior decisions of this Court. This causes Mrs. Gibbons, and will cause other similarly situated widows of injured workers in the State of Washington, to suffer an unjust economic loss. The Court of Appeals' holding in this matter is inconsistent with the Act's stated policy and prior Supreme Court opinions. This is a matter of substantial public interest that affects many spouses of deceased injured workers in the State of Washington.

V. ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court should accept review, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4). This case involves an opinion of the Court of Appeals dealing with the legal issue of whether a surviving spouse is entitled to present her case, concerning her independent right and claim to death, or widow's benefits, when the deceased injured worker's claim has reached a final determination wherein the injured worker was determined

to only be a permanently partially disabled worker. This case was decided in contradiction to rulings of this Court. Additionally, the Court of Appeals' opinion addresses an issue that has substantial public interest as it relates to surviving spouses of deceased injured workers in the State of Washington.

A. Introduction: The Policy of the Industrial Insurance Act.

The Industrial Insurance Act ("Act") was established to protect and provide benefits for injured workers and their families. It has been held for many years that the courts and the Board are committed to the rule that the Act is remedial in nature and its beneficial purpose should be liberally construed in favor of the beneficiaries. *Wilber v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 61 Wn.2d 439, 446, 378 P.2d 684 (1963).

Furthermore, RCW 51.04.010 declares that "sure and certain relief for workers, injured in their work, and their families and dependents is hereby provided regardless of questions of fault." Similarly, RCW 51.12.010 indicates that the Act "shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." Thus, any doubts that arise when interpreting or applying the Act must be resolved in favor of the worker, or the beneficiary. *See Clauson v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 130 Wn.2d 580, 584, 925 P.2d 624 (1996).

From these statements of policy and interpretations of the Act it is clear that the overarching purpose of the Act is to minimize suffering and economic loss by injured workers and their families and that when the Act is interpreted, or when questions arise as to how the Act should be applied in a given situation, the Act should be construed liberally to reach a favorable outcome for the injured worker or the beneficiary. *See e.g. Wilber*, 61 Wn.2d at 446.

For all injured workers and beneficiaries, these guiding principles are critical to interpretation of statutes in cases such as this one. In order to effectuate the purposes of the Act and reduce the economic harm suffered by Mrs. Gibbons, and similarly situated survivors of deceased injured workers, the survivors' claims should not be bound by final determinations concerning the injured worker's distinct, independent claim.

B. Death Benefits Under the Industrial Insurance Act.

Under the Act, a surviving spouse has a separate and independent right to death benefits. *McFarland v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 188 Wash. 357, 62 P.2d 714 (1936). These death benefits are a separate character than an injured worker's wage replacement benefits. *Mason v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, 166 Wn. App. 859, 271 P.3d 381 (2012).

Under RCW 51.32.067, a surviving spouse is entitled to death benefits if the injured worker dies during a period of total disability. Under

RCW 51.32.050, a surviving spouse is entitled to death benefits if the death is a result an industrial injury.

C. Summary Judgment Standard

In this case, Boeing, the non-appealing party at the Board filed for summary judgment and had the burden of establishing its right to the judgment it sought. Summary judgment is appropriate when the facts are not in dispute and therefore, the issue is one of law. CR 56(c). If the moving party does not sustain its burden, summary judgment should not be granted. *Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp.*, 110 Wn.2d 912, 915, 757 P.2d 507 (1988).

D. The Court of Appeals Incorrectly Determined that Mrs. Gibbons' Independent Claim for Death Benefits was Properly Dismissed on Summary Judgment Concerning RCW 51.32.067.

The Court of Appeals held that because Mr. Gibbons was only determined to be partially disabled at the time of his death, and this determination was not appealed, Mrs. Gibbons was bound by this determination and could not challenge that finding in her own independent claim for death benefits. A1 pg. 6-7. However, this determination was only as it related to Mr. Gibbons' claim for benefits, not Mrs. Gibbons' claim for benefits, which was not at issue in the prior determination.

This is in contradiction to this Court's rulings in the *McFarland* case. There, the injured worker had been determined to be a permanently partially disabled worker with a final judgment by the Superior Court. *Id.*, 188 Wash. at 359. Thereafter, the injured worker died and his widow made a claim for widow's benefits. *Id.* at 360. The widow's claim was denied by the Department and the Joint Board. *Id.* Her claim was allowed on appeal at Superior Court. *Id.*

On review, the Supreme Court held that if an injured worker has been determined to be a permanently partially disabled worker by the Department or a Court and thereafter rendered permanently and totally disabled as a result of the injury as shown by the widow, a widow's pension should be allowed. *Id.* at 367. In arriving at this conclusion, the court noted that in view of the declared purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act, a claim for widow's benefits, shall, if reasonably possible, be favorably considered. *Id.* at 365. This is a substantial public interest as expressed by the Legislature.

Like the *McFarland* case, Mrs. Gibbons should be allowed to establish her own independent entitlement to widow's benefits even though Mr. Gibbons' entitlement has been declared as only permanently partially disabled. Mrs. Gibbons should not have been precluded from establishing her husband's rights to permanent partially disability on the appeal to the

Department's June 2, 2006 closing order on his claim for benefits and subsequently establishing her own right to death benefits because these are two independent rights and two independent benefits.

This is in line with this Court's decision in the case *Wintermute v.*Department of Labor & Industries, 183 Wash. 169, 48 P.2d 627 (1935) in which the widow was awarded increased benefits due her deceased husband, the injured worker, and was awarded widow's benefits due to herself, the surviving spouse. Mrs. Gibbons' prior litigation concerning her husbands' claim for entitlement to an increased permanent partial disability award does not preclude her from litigating her own entitlement to the denial of her claim for death benefits.

In fact, Mrs. Gibbons could not have sought death benefits in the prior appeal, which resulted in the 2011 Superior Court Judgment, because the Department had yet to take any action on her application for such benefits. Mrs. Gibbons must be allowed to establish her own entitlement to death benefits. It is not res judicate that she is not entitled to these benefits because of the prior determination that Mr. Gibbons was only partially disabled at the time of his death.

Simply put, because there was a prior determination concerning Mr. Gibbons' claim, this does not foreclose Mrs. Gibbons' independent claim.

There remains a question of fact concerning Mr. Gibbons' employability as

it relates to Mrs. Gibbons' claim for death benefits. Summary judgment was improperly granted.

E. The Court of Appeals Incorrectly Determined that Mrs. Gibbons' Independent Claim for Death Benefits was Properly Dismissed on Summary Judgment Concerning RCW 51.32.050.

The Court of Appeals also erroneously found that summary judgment dismissal was proper concerning Mrs. Gibbons' entitlement to death benefits under RCW 51.32.050.

Under this statute the cause of Mr. Gibbons' death is crucial to the analysis. This is a medical question upon which only a doctor is competent to testify. *Porter v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 51 Wn.2d 634, 636, 320 P.2d 1099 (1958).

As the moving party for summary judgment, Boeing had the obligation to show that there was no question of fact as to Mr. Gibbons' death and its relationship to his industrial injury. Boeing did not meet this burden.

In its motion, Boeing stated "John Gibbons died on August 1, 2005. Exhibit F. His death was unrelated to the industrial injury." CABR at 98. The only evidence offered by Boeing to support this crucial assertion concerning Mr. Gibbons' death was a snippet of testimony, at Exhibit F, which was presented to the Board in the appeal of the June 2, 2006 closing

order concerning Mr. Gibbons' estate's entitlement to benefits for Mr. Gibbons wherein Mrs. Gibbons testified that her husband died on August 1, 2005. CABR at 124. There was no evidence offered to support the medical determination that Mr. Gibbons' death was unrelated to the industrial injury.

Thus, Boeing failed to establish through any evidence, much less medical evidence from a doctor, that the cause of Mr. Gibbons' death was unrelated to his industrial injury, the burden to rebut this evidence would not shift to Mrs. Gibbons. While the death certificate was submitted in response to Boeing's motion by the Appellant below, it was improper for summary judgment to be granted on Mrs. Gibbons' entitlement to widow's benefits because Mr. Gibbons' death was unrelated to his industrial injury. See White v. Kent Medical Center, Inc., P.S., 61 Wn. App. 163, 170, 810 P.2d 4 (1991) (If the moving party does not met its initial burden, summary judgment may not be entered, regardless of whether the opposing party responded.). There remains a question of fact on this issue.

F. This Case Involves a Substantial Public Interest in Protecting All Survivors of Deceased Injured Workers From Suffering Unnecessary and Unjust Economic Harm.

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