RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 18, 2015, 8:30 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 92270-5

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN R. GIBBONS,

Petitioner,

v.

THE BOEING COMPANY AND DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Paul Weideman Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 42254 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3820

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

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court should decline review because the Court of Appeals applied well-established law about death benefits to the specific facts of this case to conclude that Ms. Gibbons could not receive death benefits

under RCW 51.32.050 or RCW 51.32.067. Ms. Gibbons does not appear to dispute that lung cancer caused her husband's death or that, based on the jury's verdict, he was partially (not totally) disabled at death. As the Board, superior court, and Court of Appeals all correctly recognized, these two facts preclude an award of death benefits to the surviving spouse under the plain language of RCW 51.32.050 and RCW 51.32.067. The routine application of the plain language of these statutes to the facts of this case affects only Ms. Gibbons and is not a matter of substantial public interest.

The application of the plain language of RCW 51.32.050 and RCW 51.32.067 is wholly consistent with this Court's opinions in *McFarland v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 188 Wash. 357, 62 P.2d 714 (1936), and *Wintermute v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 183 Wash. 169, 48 P.2d 627 (1935). Although those cases referred to a surviving spouse's "original" and "independent" right to seek death benefits, both still required that the surviving spouse prove that the work injury caused the worker's death or permanent total disability at the time of death. There is no conflict with those cases warranting this Court's discretionary review.

Finally, contrary to Ms. Gibbons's repeated assertions, this case affects only her, not "many spouses of deceased injured workers" in Washington. Pet. 7. The reason she cannot receive benefits is because the

facts of her case do not allow it: her husband's twisting back injury in 1988 did not cause his death or total disability in 2005. This is a fact-specific determination unique to her. Surviving spouses in other cases will continue to receive death benefits under RCW 51.32.050 if their spouse died as a result of a work injury and under RCW 51.32.067 if the work injury rendered their spouse permanently totally disabled at the time of death. That the facts of her case do not allow her to receive death benefits does not warrant this Court's review under RAP 13.4.

A. This Case Does Not Involve a Matter of Substantial Public Interest Because The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied RCW 51.32.050 and RCW 51.32.067

Under the facts of this case, Ms. Gibbons is not entitled to death benefits. The Legislature allows death benefits to a surviving spouse only when the work injury results in death or causes the worker to be permanently totally disabled at death. RCW 51.32.050; RCW 51.32.067. Neither situation is present here. Gibbons died from smoking, not his work injury. And a jury determined that he was permanently partially (not totally) disabled at death. Ms. Gibbons thus does not meet either of the two statutory prerequisites for death benefits. This case has no bearing on other surviving spouses who, unlike Ms. Gibbons, will be able to obtain death benefits by presenting evidence that meets these prerequisites. The

outcome of this case affects only Ms. Gibbons and is not a matter of substantial public interest.

The Industrial Insurance Act contains two types of death benefits for a surviving spouse. First, a surviving spouse is entitled to death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1) if the deceased spouse was permanently totally disabled from the industrial injury at the time of death. RCW 51.32.067(1); see also RCW 51.08.160. Second, a surviving spouse is entitled to death benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a) if the worker's death results from the work injury. Throughout her petition, Ms. Gibbons speaks of her independent "claim" or "entitlement" to "widow's benefits," but apart from these two statutory provisions, there is no legal basis under the Act for the payment of death benefits to a surviving spouse. See Pet. 1, 7, 10-14. Ms. Gibbons appears to concede as much because she cites no other statutory provision that would allow her to receive surviving spouse benefits as a result of her husband's death. See Pet. 1, 10, 13. Because she does not meet the requirements of either statutory provision and because neither provision allows a survivor to circumvent a jury verdict finding of no permanent total disability at death, she cannot receive death benefits.

1. Because Gibbons Was Not Totally Disabled at Death From The Work Injury, His Spouse Cannot Receive Benefits Under RCW 51.32.067

It is res judicata that Gibbons was partially disabled, not totally disabled, at death. A jury made that determination in 2011 when Ms. Gibbons appealed the order closing her husband's claim. In that appeal, she had the opportunity to present medical evidence that her husband was totally disabled at death from his work injury, not just partially disabled. But she did not do so and, after considering the medical evidence, a jury found that he was partially disabled. She did not appeal the jury's determination of partial disability. Under res judicata principles, the jury's finding of partial disability is final and binding and cannot now be revisited.

Res judicata, or claim preclusion, applies to an unappealed order of a trial court. *See Marley*, 125 Wn.2d at 537. Res judicata prevents a party from resurrecting the same claim in a subsequent action. *Gold Star Resorts, Inc. v. Futurewise*, 167 Wn.2d 723, 737, 222 P.3d 791 (2009). It prohibits the relitigation of claims and issues that were litigated, or that could have been litigated, in a prior action. *Chavez v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 129 Wn. App. 236, 239, 118 P.3d 392 (2005).

The jury's determination that Gibbons was only partially disabled on June 2, 2006, binds Ms. Gibbons in this appeal. She concedes in her

petition that there is "a final determination wherein the injured worker was determined to only be a permanently partially disabled worker." Pet. 7-8 (emphasis added). Her appeal of the closing order involved the same subject matter and cause of action (the extent of her husband's permanent disability) and the same parties (Ms. Gibbons, Boeing, and the Department). See BR 253, 264. These parties are bound by the jury's determination that Gibbons was permanently partially disabled on June 2, 2006. Because it is res judicata that Gibbons was only permanently partially disabled at the time of his death, Ms. Gibbons cannot receive death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1). Permanent partial and permanent total disabilities are mutually exclusive. When a worker is permanently disabled "the worker receives either a pension or a permanent partial disability award." Hubbard, 140 Wn.2d at 37 n.1 (emphasis added); see also Stone v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 172 Wn. App. 256, 262, 289 P.3d 720 (2012). A final closing order awarding permanent partial disability makes it res judicata that the worker's disability at the time of the order was only partial, not total. Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Farr, 70 Wn. App. 759, 766, 855 P.2d 711 (1993). It establishes that the worker was capable of at least some form of gainful employment as of the date that his claim was closed. See Farr, 70 Wn. App. at 766.

Ms. Gibbons incorrectly suggests that she could not have sought death benefits when she appealed the order closing her husband's claim "because the Department had yet to take any action on her application for such benefits." Pet. 12. When she appealed the order closing her husband's claim, she could have presented medical evidence that he was permanently totally disabled, which would have entitled her to benefits under RCW 51.32.067, but she did not. It was not "beyond [her] control" to present medical testimony to establish these facts; she just did not do so. Pet. 15. Her claim that she had an "independent right" to bring a survivor claim and therefore escape the application of res judicata is not supported by any authority. Pet. 15. Under res judicata principles, she is bound by the determination of an order that adjudicates a fact directly at issue and she has not claimed that she was not a party to the superior court action where the jury found that Gibbons was only permanently partially disabled. Indeed it was her appeal.

Ms. Gibbons's briefing at the Court of Appeals suggests that she did not present evidence of her husband's permanent total disability for a strategic reason—because she understood that her husband's voluntarily retirement in 1993 precluded him from receiving permanent total

¹ Her claim for an "independent" right to claim permanent total disability notwithstanding the jury verdict is discussed further below in Part.IV.B.

disability benefits.² App. Br. 17. It is true that his retirement precludes her from receiving death benefits under RCW 51.32.067; *see Farr*, 70 Wn. App. at 765. But her strategic decision not to litigate permanent total disability because of that issue when she appealed the closing order binds her here and precludes her from receiving death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1). Her argument ignores that res judicata applies to issues that could have been litigated but that were not. *Chavez*, 129 Wn. App. at 239. She cannot belatedly revive an issue that she declined to litigate. Her strategic litigation approach in this case is unique to her and not a matter of substantial public interest.

2. Because Gibbons Died From Lung Cancer, Not His Low Back Injury, His Spouse Cannot Receive Benefits Under RCW 51.32.050

Gibbons's 1988 work injury did not cause his death. He died in 2005 from lung cancer, and tobacco use was the only contributing factor listed on the death certificate. BR 192. The physician who certified his death noted a short interval of three months between the onset of lung cancer and death. BR 192. Because Gibbons's twisting back injury in 1988 did not cause the onset of his lung cancer in 2005, Ms. Gibbons is

² Although the Court of Appeals did not address the issue, Ms. Gibbons is also not entitled to death benefits under RCW 51.32.067(1) because this Court previously determined that her husband voluntarily retired from the workforce, and she has presented no evidence that he ever attempted to return to the workforce after he voluntarily retired. See BR 106. A worker who voluntarily retires from the workforce is not entitled to permanent total disability benefits. Farr, 70 Wn. App. at 765.

not entitled to benefits under RCW 51.32.050(2)(a). This fact-specific determination of Gibbons's cause of death is not a matter of substantial public interest and will not affect other death benefits cases. It is a determination that affects only Ms. Gibbons.

Ms. Gibbons does not appear to dispute that lung cancer unrelated to her husband's work injury caused his death. See Pet. 13-14. Instead, she elevates form over substance to argue that because the death certificate identifying the cause of death was submitted in response to summary judgment, rather than with Boeing's summary judgment motion, summary judgment could not be granted to Boeing as the moving party. See Pet. 13-14.

This argument ignores that a moving party in a summary judgment action may meet its initial burden to show the absence of an issue of material fact by demonstrating the absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party's case. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225 n.1, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). It was sufficient for Boeing to assert in its motion that Gibbons's low back injury in 1988 did not cause his death from lung cancer in 2005. It was then incumbent on Ms. Gibbons to present some medical evidence that his back injury caused lung cancer. But, as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, she did not do so and summary judgment was therefore proper. Slip op. at 7-8; *see also* BR 171-

201. This is a routine application of summary judgment principles and not a matter of substantial public interest, especially where Ms. Gibbons has never identified any medical evidence that her husband's low back injury in 1988 caused lung cancer 17 years later.

Finally, the doctrine of liberal construction does not apply in this case because there is no ambiguous statute to construe. Under that doctrine, the court liberally construes the terms of the Industrial Insurance Act. RCW 51.12.010. Ms. Gibbons misstates the doctrine when she asserts that the Act's "beneficial purpose" should be liberally construed (Pet. 8) or that courts should apply liberal construction "when questions arise as to how the Act should be applied in a given situation." (Pet. 9). Liberal construction applies only to the construction of ambiguous statutes. *See Harris v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993). It does not apply, as here in this case, to the application of unambiguous statutes.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Consistent With This Court's McFarland and Wintermute Decisions

The Court of Appeals' routine application of the death benefits statutes in this case does not conflict with this Court's decision in *McFarland* or *Wintermute*. Those cases stand for the proposition that a worker cannot waive his or her survivor's right to benefits by failing to

apply to re-open a closed claim during the worker's lifetime (*McFarland*) or by dying during a pending appeal on the application to re-open a closed claim (*Wintermute*). But that is not what occurred here. Ms. Gibbons was able to seek and obtain death benefits either by appealing the closing order and proving that her husband was totally disabled or by submitting evidence in response to summary judgment that her husband's work injury caused her death. *McFarland* and *Wintermute* are factually distinguishable and do not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision.

In *McFarland*, unlike here, when the worker died, his claim had been finally closed with a permanent partial disability award. *McFarland*, 188 Wash. at 359. Therefore, unlike in this case, his surviving spouse could not appeal the order closing the claim because that order was final. *Id.* Lacking an order to appeal, she had no way to assert that her husband's partial disability had become total at the time of his death. It was in this context that this Court held that the surviving spouse could still assert her husband was totally and permanently disabled at death and thus entitled to pension benefits under the predecessor statute to RCW 51.32.067. *Id.* at 367. Her husband's failure to apply to re-open her claim during his life did not waive her rights to seek death benefits. *See id.* But, like Ms. Gibbons in this case, the surviving spouse in *McFarland* still had to prove that her husband was permanently totally disabled at death. *See id.*

Here, unlike in *McFarland*, Ms. Gibbons had the opportunity to litigate whether her husband was permanently totally disabled at the time of death. His claim was still open when he died. When she appealed the order closing her husband's claim after her death, she had the opportunity to provide medical testimony that he was permanently totally disabled, not just permanently partially disabled, but she did not do so. As this Court has made clear, McFarland's reference to a surviving spouse's "original" right to seek benefits under the Act, means that "a survivor's claim is independent from the worker's claim to the extent the worker cannot waive the survivor's rights to benefits." Kilpatrick v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 125 Wn.2d 222, 228, 883 P.2d 1370 (1994). Thus, the worker's failure to file a reopening application in McFarland asserting permanent total disability during his life did not preclude the surviving spouse from asserting the worker's permanent total disability at death in a subsequent survivor's claim. See McFarland, 188 Wash. at 366-67. That is not what occurred in this case. Ms. Gibbons had the opportunity to litigate permanent total disability, and she is bound by the jury's determination of partial disability.

Ms. Gibbons makes only passing mention of *Wintermute*, but that case is entirely consistent with the Court of Appeals' decision because the surviving spouse in that case had to prove that the work injury caused

death, as the current version of RCW 51.32.050 requires. *See* Pet.12; 183 Wash. at 175. This Court found that substantial evidence supported the jury's verdict in that case that death caused the injury. *See id.* That is unlike this case because Ms. Gibbons has presented no evidence that her husband's back injury caused lung cancer. There is no conflict with prior decisions of this Court. This Court's decisions do not support that a survivor can circumvent a jury's verdict that a worker was not permanently totally disabled at the time of death. Nor do they support a conclusion that a spouse can obtain death benefits when the work injury did not cause death.

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

V. CONCLUSION

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